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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

96-86'7D

Case No.

CIV - RYSKAMP

COMPLAINT FO
INJUNCTIVE AI%%AGISTRAE JUDGE
OTHER RELIEF VITUNAC

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
v.

THE APPLETREE COMPANIES, INC.
f/k/a MODAMI SERVICES, INC.,
MICHAEL H. SALIT, DAVID B. LOBEL,
PAUL B. KRAVITZ, AND

W. SCOTT LONG III,

Defendants. 0 ?;
WA A =
Plaintiff, Securities and Exchange Commission o (;
o ( o
("Commission"), alleges that: 5 - T
s =
INTRODUCTION St \,
::" et (8] \o
1. The Commission brings this action as a result : - 5
various material omissions and misrepresentations in connection
with AppleTree Companies, Inc.’s ("AppleTree"), offer and sale of

securities in 1992, as well as in various reports with the
Commission thereafter. The misstatements and omissions in
AppleTree’s 1992 offering materials and subsequent filings relate
to: (a) an undisclosed relationship between former officers and
directors of AppleTree and AppleTree’s sole supplier of the raw
material for its yogurt product; (b) $440,000 in machinery and
equipment purportedly owned by AppleTree; (c) an undisclosed
$250,000 loan which AppleTree made from the proceeds of its 1992
offering; and (d) a joint venture agreement with an unauthorized
signature included in a filing with the Commission. The

Commission seeks injunctive relief and an accounting against all

v
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Defendants, and civil penalties and disgorgement against all
individual Defendants.
DEFENDANTS

2. The AppleTree Companies, Inc. ("AppleTree"), a Delaware
corporation which until in or about August 1996 had its principal
offices in Boca Raton, Florida, is a diversified food and
consumer products company. At all times relevant, AppleTree was
subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") and AppleTree filed current and
periodic reports with the Commission.

3. Michael H. Salit ("Salit"), 52, resides in Boca Raton,
Florida. Salit was AppleTree’s chairman from its inception until
in or about March 1994.

4. David B, Lobel ("Lobel"), 56, resides in Boca Raton,
Florida. Lobel was AppleTree’s vice-president and chief
financial officer from its inception until in or about July 1993.

5. Paul B. Kravitz ("Kravitz"), 64, resides in Boca Raton,
Florida. Kravitz was president of AppleTree from its inception
through in or about April 1994, when he became chairman and
president. In or about August 1996, Kravitz resigned as chairman
and president.

6. W. Scott Long III ("Long"), 52, resides in Shorewood,
Minnesota. At the time of AppleTree’s August 1992 offering, Long
was president of Kennedy, Mathews, Landis, Healy & Pecora, Inc.
("Kennedy Mathews"), the underwriter of AppleTree’s 1992

offering.
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JURISDICTION

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant
to Sections 20(d) and 22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933
("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. §8§ 77t (d), 77v(a), and Sections
21(d), 21{(e), and 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d),
78u(e), and 78aa.

8. The Commission brings this action pursuant to Sections
20(b), 20(d), and 22{a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §8§
77t (b), 77t (d), and 77v(a), and Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of
the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78ufe), and 78aa, to
restrain and enjoin the Defendants from engaging in the acts and
practices complained of herein, and for other equitable relief.

9. AppleTree, Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and Long, directly or
indirectly, singly and in concert, have made use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the means and
instruments of transportation and communication in interstate
commerce, and the mails, in connection with the acts and
practices complained of herein.

OVERVIEW OF THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME

10. On or about January 3, 1992, AppleTree (formerly known
as Modami Services, Inc. ("Modami")) filed with the Commission a
registration statement on Form S-18 (the "Registration
Statement"). According to its Registration Statement, AppleTree,
a development stage company, intended to raise approximately $5

million to commence distribution of a frozen yogurt product.
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11. Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and Long caused AppleTree’s
Registration Statement, as well as certain subsequent reports to
the Commission, to contain numerous material omissions and
affirmative misrepresentations. Additionally, Salit and Lobel
intentionally and/or recklessly provided AppleTree’s independent
accountants with false information and caused AppleTree to fail
to make and keep accurate books and records.

APPLETREE’S FRAUDULENT REGISTRATION STATEMENT

12. AppleTree’s Registration Statement disclosed that it
intended to use approximately $1.6 million of the proceeds of
this offering to purchase dehydrated yogurt powder from an
Israeli company known as Nutrix, Ltd. ("Nutrix"); AppleTree
represented that $200,000 already had been advanced to Nutrix.
AppleTree’s Registration Statement stated that Nutrix was the
sole supplier of this product, and further represented that
Nutrix was an unaffiliated, privately-owned company, owned and
controlled by Leon Unger ("Unger") and Avi Shalev ("Shalev").
AppleTree’s Registration Statement did not disclose that Salit
and Lobel had any relationship with or interest in Nutrix.

Undisclosed Corporate and Creditor Relationghips With Nutrix

13. On or about September 12, 1990, Salit and Lobel, with
others, co-founded Nutrix's predecessor. From that time until at
least AppleTree’s advance of $200,000 to Nutrix on or about June
11, 1991, Salit and Lobel remained both stockholders (each owning
approximately 25%) and directors of Nutrix. Furthermore, Salit

and Lobel claim that, until well after the effective date of
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AppleTree’s Registration Statement, Nutrix owed them
approximately $600,000, which would have made them Nutrix's
creditors at the time of the 1992 offering.

14. In response to questions from AppleTree’s auditors in
connection with the audit of its financial statements for the
period ended August 31, 1991, as well as in response to gquestions
from AppleTree’s attorneys and underwriter in connection with the
preparation of AppleTree’s Registration Statement, Salit and
Lobel failed to disclose that they had any relationship with
Nutrix and, in fact, affirmatively denied that they had any such
relationship.

15. As a result of Salit’s and Lobel’s failures to disclose
their relationships with Nutrix, AppleTree’s Registration
Statement failed to disclose that Salit and Lobel were stockhold-
ers, directors and claimed to be creditors of Nutrix during the
time that AppleTree was doing business with Nutrix.

16. When Salit and Lobel prepared AppleTree’s Registration
Statement or caused or allowed it to be filed with the
Commission, they knew, or recklessly disregarded the fact, that
it materially misrepresented, or omitted to state material facts
concerning, their relationships with Nutrix.

17. These misstatements and omissions concerning Salit’s
and Lobel’s relationship to Nutrix were material because an
investor would have wanted to know that Salit and Lobel had such
relationships with AppleTree’s sole supplier of raw material for

its yogurt product.
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offering. Regal, also a client of Kennedy Mathews, was seeking

to raise funds to build a gambling casino. To document the loan,
Regal issued a promissory note to AppleTree. Kravitz learned of
the loan either at or about the same time or shortly thereafter.

22. The loan to Regal was not disclosed, and no provision
for such a loan had been made, in AppleTree’s Registration
Statement. In fact, the Regal loan was made in contradiction of
the affirmative statements in the Registration Statement as to
how AppleTree would utilize the proceeds of the offering.
AppleTree did not file any post-effective amendment to its
Registration Statement to disclose this loan, nor did AppleTree,
Salit, Lobel, Kravitz, or Long (in his capacity as an
underwriter) cause the loan to Regal to be otherwise disclosed to
prospective investors and investors in AppleTree’s 1992 offering.
The failure to make a post-effective disclosure of the Regal loan
caused the Registration Statement to become materially
misleading.

23. AppleTree did not disclose the Regal loan in the
initial Form SR (which discloses the use of proceeds), signed by
Kravitz, which AppleTree filed with the Commission on or about
November 16, 1992. AppleTree did not disclose the Regal loan
until it filed its annual report with the Commission on Form 10-K
for the period ended August 31, 1992 on or about December 15,
1992, after its year-end audit. On or about December 22, 1992,

after disclosing the loan in its 1992 10-K, AppleTree filed an
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Amended Form SR with the Commission which included the loan in
its report itemizing the use of proceeds from the offering.

24. Regal defaulted on the note and it remains unpaid. The
loan to Regal represented approximately 5% of the gross proceeds
of AppleTree’s 1992 offering. The fact that the Regal loan was
being made would have been material to investors in AppleTree’s
1992 offering.

25. Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and Long fraudulently, knowingly,
willfully and/or recklessly failed to disclose AppleTree’s loan
to Regal to investors to whom securities were offered and sold
during AppleTree’s 1992 offering.

SALIT AND LOBEL‘’S MISREPRESENTATION AND OMISSION
OF MATERIAL FACTS TO APPLETREE’'S OUTSIDE AUDITORS AND
CAUSING APPLETREE TO MAINTAIN FALSE BOOKS, RECORDS AND ACCOUNTS

26. In the course of AppleTree’s audit for fiscal year
1992, Salit and Lobel, and in the course of AppleTree’s audit for
fiscal year 1993, Salit fraudulently, knowingly, willfully and/or
recklessly falsely confirmed to AppleTree’s outside auditors the
accuracy of AppleTree’s financial statements which included the
$440,000 in machinery and equipment that Salit and Lobel
purportedly contributed to AppleTree. As a result of Salit and
Lobel’s misrepresentations, AppleTree’s books, records, accounts
and financial statements inaccurately reflected ownership of
$440,000 in machinery and equipment which AppleTree did not in
fact own.

27. During the 1992 and 1993 audits, AppleTree’s outside

auditors asked Salit and Lobel to disclose any transactions with
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a related party. During the 1992 audit, Salit and Lobel
affirmatively represented to AppleTree’s outside auditors that
they had disclosed all related party transactions, yet Salit and
Lobel failed to disclose that they claimed to be creditors of
Nutrix in the amount of approximately $600,000. In the course of
the 1993 audit, Salit affirmatively represented to AppleTree’s
outside auditors that he had disclosed all related party
transactions, yet Salit failed to disclose that he and Lobel
claimed to be creditors of Nutrix in the amount of approximately
$600,000. As a result of Salit and Lobel’s failures to disclose
their relationships with Nutrix, AppleTree’s books, records,
accounts and financial statements failed to disclose Salit’s and
Lobel’s interests in AppleTree’s transactions with Nutrix.

MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS OF MATERIAL FACT
IN APPLETREE’S PERIODIC FILINGS WITH THE COMMISSION

28. AppleTree, at all times relevant herein, has been
subject to the reporting requirements of Exchange Act Section
13 (a) and the rules thereunder, more particularly, Rules 13a-1
13a-13, and 12b-20.

Misrepresentations and Omissions Relating to $440,000
in Machinery and Equipment and Relationships with Nutrix

29. AppleTree’s filings on Form 10-K for the year ended
August 31, 1992, and its filings on Forms 10-Q and 10-QSB for the
quarters ended November 30, 1992, February 28, 1993, and May 31,
1993, (a) falsely reported that AppleTree owned $440,000 in
machinery and equipment; and (b) failed to disclose that Salit

and Lobel claimed to be creditors of Nutrix while AppleTree was
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doing business with Nutrix. AppleTree’s Form 10-KSB filings for
the year ended August 31, 1993, and its Form 10-QSB for the
quarter ended November 30, 1993, failed to disclose that Salit
claimed to be a creditor of Nutrix while AppleTree was doing
business with Nutrix.

30. The misrepresentations and failures to disclose set
forth in the preceding paragraph would have been material to
investors and prospective investors in AppleTree.

31. Salit and Lobel, as agents and/or officers and direc-
tors of AppleTree, fraudulently, knowingly, willfully and/or
recklessly prepared, caused and/or allowed to be filed with the
Commission the reports set forth two paragraphs above.

Misrepresentations and Omissions Relating to
Proposed Joint Venture between AppleTree and TSR, Inc.

32. AppleTree’s annual report on Form 10-K for the period
ended August 31, 1992, represented that AppleTree had entered
into an agreement in principle to form a joint venture with TSR,
Inc. ("TSR") to market a dehydrated milk product. Included with
AppleTree’s 1992 Form 10-K as an exhibit was the so-called joint
venture agreement, purportedly signed by the president of TSR.

33. TSR's president had never signed any joint venture
agreement with AppleTree. In fact, Kravitz signed the name of
TSR's president, without his authorization, to the purported
agreement between AppleTree and TSR that was included in

AppleTree’s 1992 Form 10-K.

i0
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34. It would have been material to AppleTree’s investors
that TSR’s president had not signed the joint venture agreement,
or authorized Kravitz to sign on his behalf.

35. In its annual report on Form 10-KSB for the next fiscal
year which ended August 31, 1993, AppleTree falsely reported that
AppleTree and TSR had "mutually agreed" not to pursue the joint
venture project due to "marketing concerns." In fact, TSR had
broken off negotiations with AppleTree when TSR’s president
discovered that Kravitz had signed his name to the proposed joint
venture agreement. TSR’s president informed Kravitz that the
primary reason that TSR would not proceed with the joint venture
agreement was because of Kravitz'’ unauthorized signing of his
name.

36. It would have been material to AppleTree’s investors to
know that the reason TSR chose not to go forward with the
proposed joint venture agreement was because of Kravitz’
unauthorized signing of the agreement.

37. Kravitz, as an agent and/or officer and director of
AppleTree, fraudulently, knowingly, willfully and/or recklessly
prepared, caused and/or allowed to be filed with the Commission
materially false and misleading annual reports by AppleTree on
Forms 10-K and 10-KSB for the years ended August 31, 1992, and
August 31, 1993 relating to (a) Kravitz’ unauthorized signature
of the TSR contract, and (b) the fact that TSR broke off
negotiations with AppleTree due to its discovery of Kravitz’

unauthorized signature of the joint venture agreement.

11
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COUNT I

FRAUD BY SALIT, LOBEL, KRAVITZ AND LONG
IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 17 (a) (1)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 77qg(a) (1)

38. Paragraphs 1 through 37 are hereby realleged and are
incorporated herein by reference.

39. Salit and Lobel, as more particularly described in
paragraphs 1 through 25 above, Kravitz, as more particularly
described in paragraphs 1 through 12 and 21 through 25 above, and
Long, as more particularly described in paragraphs 1 through 12
and 21 through 25 above, in the offer or sale of securities, by
the use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or by the use of the mails,
directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, fraudulently,
knowingly, willfully and/or recklessly employed devices, schemes
and artifices to defraud purchasers of such securities.

40. By reason of the foregoing, Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and
Long have violated, and unless enjoined, will continue to violate
Section 17(a) (1) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a) (1).

COUNT II
FRAUD BY SALIT, LOBEL, KRAVITZ AND LONG

IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 17 (a) (2) AND 17(a) (3) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77g(a) (2) AND 77g(a) (3)

41. Paragraphs 1 through 40 are hereby realleged and are
incorporated herein by reference.

42. Salit and Lobel, as more particularly described in
paragraphs 1 through 25 above, Kravitz, as more particularly

described in paragraphs 1 through 12 and 21 through 25 above, and

12
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Long, as more particularly described in paragraphs 1 through 12
and 21 through 25 above, in the offer or sale of securities, by
the use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or by the use of the mails,
directly or indirectly, singly or in concert:

(a) obtained money or property by means of untrue
statements of material facts and omissions to
state material facts necessary in order to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading; and/or

(b) engaged in transactions, practices and courses of
business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon
the purchasers and prospective purchasers of such
gsecurities.

43. By reason of the foregoing, Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and
Long have violated, and unless enjoined, will continue to violate
Sections 17(a) (2) and 17(a) (3) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C.
§§ 77g(a) (2) and 77g(a) (3).
COUNT IIT
FRAUD BY SALIT, LOBEL, KRAVITZ AND LONG
IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT,

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), AND RULE 10b-5 THEREUNDER,
17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5

44. Paragraphs 1 through 43 are hereby realleged and are
incorporated herein by reference.
45. Salit and Lobel, as more particularly described in

paragraphs 1 through 25 above, Kravitz, as more particularly

13
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described in paragraphs 1 through 12, 21 through 25, and 32
through 37 above, and Long, as more particularly described in
paragraphs 1 through 12 and 21 through 25 above, directly or
indirectly, by the use of the means or instruments of interstate
commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of any national
securities exchange, in connection with the purchase or sale of
securities, as described herein, fraudulently, knowingly,
willfully and/or recklessly: (i) employed devices, schemes and
artifices to defraud; (ii) made untrue statements of material
facts or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading; or (iii) engaged in acts,
practices and courses of business which have operated as a fraud
or deceit upon the purchasers and prospective purchasers of such
securities.

46. By reason of the foregoing, Salit, Lobel, Kravitz, and
Long, directly or indirectly, have violated and, unless enjoined,
will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.s.C. §8 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5,

thereunder.

14
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COUNT IV

FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS BY
SALIT AND LOBEL IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 13 (b) (5)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 13b2-1 UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT

47. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 46
are realleged and incorporated by reference.

48. As described in paragraphs 1 through 27 above, Salit
and Lobel, directly or indirectly, knowingly falsified or caused
to be falsified, books, records, or accounts of AppleTree
required to be kept pursuant to Section 13 (b) (2) (A) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b) (2) (Aa).

49. By reason of the foregoing, Salit and Lobel have
violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section
13(b) (5) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b) (5), and Rule
13b2-1, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1, promulgated under the Exchange
Act.

COUNT V
FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS OR OMISSIONS

OF MATERIAL FACT TO AN ACCOUNTANT BY SALIT AND LOBEL
IN VIOLATION OF RULE 13b2-2 UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT

50. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 49
are realleged and incorporated by reference.

51. As described in paragraphs 1 through 27 above, Salit
and Lobel, while serving as directors or officers of AppleTree,
directly or indirectly: (a) made or caused to be made materially
false or misleading statements, or (b) omitted to state, or
caused another person to omit to state, material facts necessary

in order to make statements made, in light of the circumstances

15
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under which such statements were made, not misleading to an
accountant in connection with (1) an audit or examination of the
financial statements of AppleTree required to be made pursuant to
Section 13(b) (2) of the Exchange Act, or (2) the preparation or
filing of a document or report required to be filed with the
Commission.

52. By reason of the foregoing, Salit and Lobel have
violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Rule
13b2-2, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2, promulgated under the Exchange
Act.

COUNT VI
FAILURE TO MAKE AND KEEP ACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS

BY APPLETREE IN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 13(b) (2) (A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

53. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 52
are realleged and incorporated by reference.

54. As described in paragraphs 1 through 37, above,
AppleTree failed to make and keep books, records, and accounts,
which, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of AppleTree.

55. By reason of the foregoing, AppleTree has violated and,
unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 13 (b) (2) (A) of

the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b) (2) (A).

16
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COUNT VII

FILING OF FALSE AND MISLEADING FORMS 10-K, 10-KSB, 10-Q AND
10-QSB BY APPLETREE AND FAILURE BY APPLETREE TO INCLUDE IN FORMS
10-K, 10-KSB, 10-Q AND 10-QSB SUCH FURTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION

NECESSARY TO MAKE THE REQUIRED STATEMENTS NOT MISLEADING
IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 13 (a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULES 12b-20, 13a-1 AND 13a-13 THEREUNDER

56. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 55
are realleged and incorporated by reference.

57. As described in paragraphs 28 through 37, above,
AppleTree filed with the Commission false and misleading Forms
10-K, 10-KSB, 10-Q and 10-QSB.

58. As described in paragraphs 28 through 37, above,
AppleTree failed to include such further material information in
its Forms 10-K, 10-KSB, 10-Q and 10-QSB to make the required
statements, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading.

59. By reason of the foregoing, AppleTree has violated and,
unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and
13a-13, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1 and 240.13a-13,

thereunder.

17
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RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff Commission respectfully prays that
the Court:

I.

Declare, determine and find that each of the Defendants
named herein committed the violations alleged herein.

II.

Issue a Permanent Injunction restraining and enjoining
Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and Long, their officers, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys and all persons in active concert or
participation with them, and each of them, from violating
Sections 17(a) (1), (2) and (3) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §
77g(a) (1), 77g(a) (2) and 77q(a) (3).

IIT.

Issue a Permanent Injunction restraining and enjoining
Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and Long, their officers, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys and all persons in active concert or
participation with him, and each of them, from violating Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17
C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, thereunder.

Iv.

Issue a Permanent Injunction, restraining and enjoining
Salit and Lobel, their officers, agents, servants, employees,
attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation
with them, and each of them, directly or indirectly, from

violating Section 13(b) (5) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §

18
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78m(b) (5), and Rules 13b2-1 and 13b2-2, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13b2-1,
and 240.13b2-2, promulgated under the Exchange Act.
V.

Issue a Permanent Injunction, restraining and enjoining
AppleTree, its officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys,
and all persons in active concert or participation with them, and
each of them, directly or indirectly, from violating Section
13 (a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), and Rules 12b-20,
13a-1 and 13a-13, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1 and 240.13a-
13, thereunder.

VI.

Issue a Permanent Injunction, restraining and enjoining
AppleTree, its officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys,
and all persons in active concert or participation with them, and
each of them, directly or indirectly, from violating Section
13(b) (2) (A) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b) (2) (A).

VII.

Issue an Order requiring AppleTree, Salit, Lobel, Kravitz
and Long, to provide an accounting of their receipt and
disbursement of all proceeds received, directly or indirectly,
pursuant to AppleTree’s August 1992 registered offering, and
requiring Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and Long to disgorge all ill-
gotten gains to effect the remedial purposes of the federal

securities laws.

19
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VIII.

Issue an Order directing Salit, Lobel, Kravitz and Long to
pay civil fines and/or penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), and Section 21(d) (3) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d) (3), for their violations of the
federal securities laws as complained herein occurring after
October 15, 1990.

IX.

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and
appropriate.

X.

Further, plaintiff, Commission, respectfully prays that this
Court retain jurisdiction over this action in order to implement
and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that may hereby

be entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion by

20
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the Commission for additional relief within the jurisdiction of

this Court.

¢

Charles V. Seﬁétore
Regional Director -
Florida Bar No. 308935

Mitchell E. Herr
Regional Trial Counsel
S.D. FL Bar No. A-5500259

James E. Burt, IV, Esqg.
Senior Counsel
Louisiana Bar No. 18150

Dated: September 30, 1996 Attorneys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
1401 Brickell Avenue, Suite 200
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 982-6336
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